Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of King Saud University – Science

journal homepage: www.sciencedirect.com

A phytopharmacological review on the Omani medicinal plant: *Ziziphus jujube*

Mohammad Amzad Hossain

School of Pharmacy, College of Pharmacy and Nursing, University of Nizwa, Oman

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 3 September 2018 Accepted 13 December 2018 Available online 14 December 2018

Keywords: Review Ziziphus jujube Phytochemicals Biological activities Drug discovery Oman

ABSTRACT

Flavonoids are natural antioxidants; that may prevent stress, reduce LDL cholesterol, platelet clump, and ischemic damage. Since the discovery of flavonoids as the significant natural antioxidant, they are known as biological modifiers. They can modify the human's reaction as well as ingredients. They are also instrumental in preventing the oxidative stress and free radical damage. About 25% of prescription drugs are available in the market to treat diseases are derived from nature. Numerous scientists are working with available natural resources to discover new drugs which can be used as medicine to cure or prevent different curable and incurable diseases. The scientific and medical community within the Sultanate of Oman has considered potential natural resources within the Gulf region for purpose to aid medical research. There is an abundant of unexplored plants, marine, and animal sources. Some of them have indicated potential pharmacological activity which can be used to discover new medicines to treat diseases. Ziziphus jujube (Z. jujube) is a medium size native plant which is available in Oman. It is belongs to Rhamnaceae classification and is traditionally used by the local community for the treatment of joint pain, dandruff, acne, chronic constipation, antiseptic, sedative, hypnotic and cardiac diseases. Previous studies have shown that this particular plant has various active principles which can affect biological activity. In addition, the previous research indicated that the plant extracts and isolated principles also contain significant activity. The plant has several varieties of species globally and one of the most common species is known as Z. jujube. Various biological studies have been conducted by scientists on the locally grown selected plant. However, due to lack of unavailable facilities, some of the parameters have not been able to be investigated as of yet. Therefore, the objective of this review is to summarize the previous reported phytopharmacological status of the selected plant species. Also, this review will help to encourage other scientist to continue the work on the selected plant species particularly within the realm of the toxicity and bioactivity. In conclusion, the plant extracts and active principles might be used in the near future as potential drugs to cure different ailments.

© 2018 The Author. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1

Introd	luction	1353
1.1.	Plant description	1353
	Synonyms	
1.3.	Taxonomic classification of Ziziphus jujuba	1354
	Vernacular names	
1.5.	Distribution of plant	1354

Peer review under responsibility of King Saud University.



E-mail address: amzad@unizwa.edu.om

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jksus.2018.12.003

1018-3647/© 2018 The Author. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).



	1.6. Medicinal usage	1354
	1.7. Chemical ingredients	1356
	1.8. Extraction	
2.	Pharmacological activities	1356
	2.1. Antioxidant activity	1356
	2.2. Antimicrobial activity	1356
	2.3. Cytotoxic activity.	1356
3.	Fotal phenols	1357
	3.1. Total flavonoids	1357
4.	Conclusion	1357
	Acknowledgement	
	References	1357

1. Introduction

1.1. Plant description

Nature is the primary sources of medicine for the treatment of different ailments since ancient times. Natural resources found in nature often provide remedies for all kinds of diseases. Scientists are looking for safer drugs that derive from natural sources to treat present diseases worldwide. Increasingly each day, new diseases are discovered that threaten the people's health. Therefore, we must increasingly turn to natural in order to seek a remedy to cure the existing and new diseases. Plants are one of the primary sources for the discovery of new drugs (Asma et al., 2016). The survival flora and fauna diversity depends on environmental and geographical conditions. That why some of the countries contain plenty of plant sources. One of the plants is Ziziphus jujube (Z. jujube) which has medicinally essential and been used traditionally in different countries to treat various diseases. Plants are distributed all over the world. However, the initial country of origin is still confusing to pinpoint due to the large variety of plant

species. The selected plant related to the research belongs to the Rhamnaceae family (Asma et al., 2016, 2017). Ziziphus is classified as part of the *jujube* species. It has about 40 species commonly found throughout the world (Asma et al., 2016). Most of the species are used as medicine particularly in India, China, and other South East Asian countries. It is found in almost all parts of the Asia. Some species of the selected family are also available in Oman. This family's plant contains fruits which are very close to the Vitaceae family (Al-Reza et al., 2009, 2010). The plant has several names. Its botanical name is Ziziphus jujube, English name is Jujube fruit, Chinese name is Da Zao and Hong Zoa, and its Indian name is Kul and Borai (Wu et al., 2014). In Oman, it is known as Nabag and Cidr (Vandita et al., 2012). The plant is about 8 to 12 m long with throne branches (Fig. 1). The leaves are green and are arrange alternatively. The flowers are small with greenish and yellowish coloration. The immature fruits are oval with greenish color. However, the fruit turns to red in color when it ripens (Fig. 2). The size of the fruits depends on cultivars. The fruit has a white flesh with a sweet and acidic taste (Kim, 2002; Li et al., 2011; Vandita et al., 2012; Al-Reza et al., 2009, 2010).



Fig. 1. Plant picture.



Fig. 2. Parts of Ziziphus jujube.

1.2. Synonyms

The plant is about 8 to 12 m in height. The dry weather is suitable for rapid growth. Therefore, the Gulf countries had plenty of *Z. jujube*. During the summer the selected plant provides shade for various types of livestock. The fruits and leaves have medicinal values and are used traditionally to treat different ailments (Khare, 1995; Kim, 2009). Due to the medicinal importance, the plant is cultivated globally. The most popular synonyms available worldwide are as follows:

- 1. Ziziphus jujuba
- 2. Ziziphus celata
- 3. Ziziphus lotus (L.) Lam.
- 4. Ziziphus mauritiana Lam.
- 5. Ziziphus nummularia (Burm.f.)
- 6. Ziziphus obtusifolia
- 7. Ziziphus parryi Torr.
- 8. Ziziphus reticulata (Vahl) DC.
- 9. Ziziphus rignonii
- 10. Ziziphus taylorii (Britton)

1.3. Taxonomic classification of Ziziphus jujuba

Domain: Eukaryota; Kingdom: Plantae; Subkingdom: Viridiplantae; Phylum: Spermatophyta; Subphylum: Angiospermae; Superdivision: Embryophyta; Division: Tracheophyta; Subdivision: Spermatophytina; Class: Magnoliopsida; Superorder: Rosanae; Order: Rosales; Family: Rhamnaceae; Genus: Ziziphus; Species: Ziziphus jujuba.

1.4. Vernacular names

Ziziphus jujube (Botanical); Jujube fruit (English), Ennab, Nabec and Zenzeli (Brabic); Da Zao and Hong Zoa (Chenise), Kul and Borai (Bangali); Nabag and Cidr (Oman); Gemeine Jujube (German); Ber and bor (Pakistan); Zi (Myanmar); Jujubenboom (Netherlands); Giuggiolo and sisifo (Italy); Rajabadari (Sanskrit); Bogori (Assamese); Bordi (Gujarati); Ber (Hindi); Bor (Marathi); Badaram, (Malayalam); Bogari (Kannada); Vadari (Tamil); Renu (Telugu); Ber (Urdu); Jangri (Sindhi).

1.5. Distribution of plant

The literature review of previous research showed that the plant originates from Africa and from Australia (Vandita et al., 2012). However, the selected plant is widely available in most tropical countries including the Arabian Peninsula (Vandita et al., 2012; Al-Reza et al., 2009, 2010). The plant is also commonly found in Malaysia, India, Bangladesh, Pakistan, Nepal, and Thailand (Erenmemisoglu et al., 1995; Khare, 1995). Most of the genus are available in Indonesia and Malaysia. The Zizyphus jujuba, Ziziphus glaberata, Ziziphus mauritiana, and Ziziphus rugosa are the medicinally most important species of this genus (Bashir et al., 2011). The selected plant grows faster than other species. The fruit is sweet, and its taste is similar to a combination of dates and apples (Kim, 2002; Li et al., 2011; Vandita et al., 2012; Al-Reza et al., 2009, 2010).

1.6. Medicinal usage

Traditionally, the selected plant along with other sub-species is used to treat different ailments (Kim, 2002; Li et al., 2011; Vandita

et al., 2012). Current research indicates that almost all parts and its extracts showed significant pharmacological activity and frequently used as an alternative medicine to treat a range aliments and disorders. In India, the roots of Z. nummularia species in Ayurveda system is used to treat coughs, nausea, and headache. The bark of the same species is used to treat chronic dysentery and diarrhea (Kirtikar and Basu, 1994). The leaves boiled in water is also used to clean corpse prior to burials. In addition, the leaves can be used to reduce the weight and combat obesity. The fruits are the main ingredient which are traditionally used as a digestible, tonic, aphrodisiac, and laxative to treat nausea, burn, sensations, thirst, tuberculosis and blood bone diseases (Bashir et al., 2011; Erenmemisoglu et al., 1995; Khare, 1995; Kim, 2009). The seed extracts of the selected species can be used to treat eye inflammation and leucorrhoea (Wu et al., 2014). Some of the Indian ethnic communities use the fruits to treat fever, diabetics, and vomiting. In India, traditionally the leaves and bark powdered are used as dressing materials to treat wounds (Bashir et al., 2011; Erenmemisoglu et al., 1995; Khare, 1995; Kim, 2009). In addition, the fresh leaves of this species can be used to treat a wounds and urinary infections (Bashir et al., 2011; Erenmemisoglu et al., 1995; Khare, 1995; Kim, 2009). When boiled in water it can be used to treat smallpox and chickenpox (Bashir et al., 2011; Erenmemisoglu et al., 1995; Khare, 1995; Kim, 2009). However, the Omani community, primarily use the plant as an antifungal agent, cardiotonic, and an antiseptic agent to treat swollen especially joint, acne, shampoo, burns, acute constipation and diarrhea (Asma et al., 2016, 2017). Elsewhere, the selected plant species has been used as an antifertility, antihypotensive, sedative, hypnotic, cardiac tonic, antioxidant, antimicrobial, and immune modulator to treat different ailments (Souleles and Shammas, 1998; Jeong et al., 2004; Khare, 1995; Peng and Zhu, 2001; Jiang et al., 2007). Previous several studies showed that the selected plant from Chinese and Korean ethnic communities have been used it as an antifungal, antibacterial, antioxidant, antiulcer, anti-stress, hypnotic, anti-inflammatory and sedative effect to treat several diseases



Fig. 3. Preparation of different polarity of extracts.

such as joint pain, acne, shampoo, severer burns, acute constipation, GIT problem, various forms of inflammation, cardiovascular diseases, urine infections, liver diseases and chronic diarrhea (Kim, 2002; Souleles and Shammas, 1998; Ziping et al., 2009; Al-Reza et al., 2009, 2010; Jiang et al., 2007).

1.7. Chemical ingredients

The selected plant species contain different groups of compounds such as tannin, saponins, flavonoids, terpenoids, phenolic compounds cardiac glycoside, alkaloids, amino acids, sugar, protein, fats, calcium, potassium, phosphate and high concentration of iron (Vandita et al., 2012; Asma et al., 2016; Elaloui et al., 2015, 2017). In addition, the plant pulp contains vitamin A, B and C, carbohydrate, calcium, phosphorus, iron, β -carotene, γ thiamine, linoleic acid, oleic acid and riboflavin (Kim, 2002; Li et al., 2011; Vandita et al., 2012; Al-Reza et al., 2009, 2010). It also contains moisture and pale yellowish oil. The fruits contain high amounts of vitamin A, B, and C along with vitamin B1 and B12 (Kim, 2002; Li et al., 2011; Vandita et al., 2012; Sajida et al., 2017). According to FAO and WHO, one fruit is enough to fulfill daily dietary requirement of different types of vitamins (Tomoda et al., 1985). However, the Omani Ziziphus fruits are known to be of high quality. The previous study showed that the plant contains about 79 chemical compounds. About 56 chemical compounds were isolated and characterized from the different parts of the selected plant (Kim, 2002; Li et al., 2011; Vandita et al., 2012; Al-Reza et al., 2009, 2010; Fatma et al., 2014).

1.8. Extraction

The scientists were collected leaves and fruits samples from their suitable places and washed and dried under different conditions. The fruits samples were sliced by a knife before drying. The samples were grounded into coarse powder. The samples were extracted from the powder with different solvents by using either hot or cold extraction methods. After completion extraction, the solvent was evaporated. Some authors, the extracts of leaves and fruits were dissolved in water and then transferred into the separatory funnel (Fig. 3). Then fractionation by various solvent with increasing polarity. Finally, the solvent was evaporated from each polarity of extract. The fractionated all polarity extracts were used for pharmacological and toxicological studies by the modified established assay (Asma et al., 2016, 2017).

2. Pharmacological activities

According to the literature, the *Z. jujube* species is considered as a medicinal plant, and it is used traditionally to treat different diseases. Omani people have traditionally used it to cure different diseases. Due to its customary use, the selected plant species was targeted to evaluate their different pharmacological and toxicological activities by the modified assay. Previous studies on the selected indigenous species showed that all polarity extracts from the leaves and fruits give significant pharmacological and toxicological activities (Vandita et al., 2012; Al-Reza et al., 2009, 2010; Fatma et al., 2014; Sajida et al., 2017). Our conclusion showed that the activity of the prepared extracts from the leaves and fruits depends on the active ingredients as well as the polarity of the ingredients (Asma et al., 2016, 2017). Also, the previous study showed that the extracts of different polarity give potentially different pharmacological and toxicological activities (Souleles and Shammas, 1998; Jeong et al., 2004; Khare, 1995; Peng and Zhu, 2001; Sajida et al., 2017).

2.1. Antioxidant activity

The prepared different polarity leaves and fruits extracts were used to determine their antioxidant activity by modified free radical scavenging method (Asma et al., 2016, 2017; Kamiloglu et al., 2009; Li et al., 2011). The extracts from edible fruits of the selected local species showed maximum antioxidant activity against free radical scavenging assay compare to other countries species. The maximum scavenging activity was obtained in chloroform extract, and minimum scavenging activity was in methanol. Our result indicated that the polarity of the extract is decreasing with increasing the scavenging activity. Therefore, the less polar extract contains the maximum antioxidant compound which can participate directly to the scavenging activity. The current research experimental results are not align with previous literature results; which were reported earlier on the same species by differing authors (Kamiloglu et al., 2009: Li et al., 2011: Vandita et al., 2012: Al-Reza et al., 2009; Fatma et al., 2014; Elaloui et al., 2015, 2017). It could be due to the preparation of extract or weather, rainfall, temperature and harvesting procedure.

2.2. Antimicrobial activity

The determination of antimicrobial activity of the various prepared extracts was done by modified agar gel assay (Asma et al., 2017). The clinically isolated Gram (+ and –) bacterial strains used in the present experiment were collected from a local hospital. All extracts at each concentration give notable antimicrobial potency against selected applied Gram (+ and -) bacterial strains. The hexane extract showed the maximum potency against the applied clinically isolated bacterial strains within the range of 0-15 mm. However, the polar extracts at each concentration showed the activity within the range of 0-9 mm (Asma et al., 2017). The range of inhibition zone entirely depends on the chemical ingredients in the respective extract. That means, the hexane extract both the leaves and fruits contains the maximum number/concentration of bioactive compounds which is directly or indirectly influence the inhibition zone. Our results are not aligned with the published results reported by the other authors (Peng and Zhu, 2001; Bashir et al., 2011). The difference in results due to the preparation of extract. Our extraction procedure is entirely different from others. In addition, the assay, dose of extract and bacterial strains used for the determination of antimicrobial activity are also entirely different. Not only is these differences, the climate of Oman not the same. Therefore, our experimental results are reversed compared with the other reported values (Peng and Zhu, 2001; Bashir et al., 2011).

2.3. Cytotoxic activity

Brine shrimp lethality assay was to determine the cytotoxic activity of the prepared different polarity extracts of the selected endemic Z. jujube (Asma et al., 2016). Artificial seawater DMSO and hatch shrimp were used to determine the cytotoxic activity of the prepared extracts. Six different polarities of locally grown Z. jujube extracts were used for this experiment. The highest toxicity activity was found in the butanol leaves extract, and the lowest activity was found in the chloroform leaves extract. However, in the fruits, the highest activity was found in ethyl acetate, and the lowest was in water extract. The toxicity of the extracts depends on the toxic ingredients present in the extract. That means, more toxic ingredients, as well as the concentration of toxic ingredients, were interfered to increase the toxicity of the extracts. Similar cytotoxic activity results were found and reported by other authors on the same species from other countries (Hoshyar et al., 2015; Reyhane et al., 2015; Fatma et al., 2014). Even though, the harvesting of the selected plant samples, the extraction procedure, and

geographical condition are not the same. It could be due the toxic compounds is stable and completely soluble in the ethyl acetate solvent.

3. Total phenols

Modified Folin-Ciocalteu reagent (FCR) assav was used for the determination of total phenols of prepared different polarity both fruits and leaves extracts from the selected plant. The gallic acid was used as a standard, and the total amount of phenols was calculated from regratation equation from the gallic acid standard curve. The ethyl acetate extract showed the maximum total phenols content in both fruits and leaves extracts. However, the water extracts from both fruits and leaves showed the minimum amount of total phenols (Asma et al., 2016). The other prepared extracts also showed the considerable amount of total phenols. The literature search reveals that some previous report published elsewhere were not wholly supported by our results (Fatma et al., 2014; Elaloui et al., 2017). Previous report also showed that significant number of polyphenolic compounds are present in the extract of the selected plant (Elaloui et al., 2015). In general, the phenols compounds are recently used as a medicine for the treatment of various diseases (Fatma et al., 2014). Therefore, the extracts which contain the maximum amount of total phenols could be used as medicine to treat various diseases.

3.1. Total flavonoids

A modified colorimetric assay was used for the determination of total flavonoids of the variously prepared polarity of extracts of fruits and leaves. The standard querectin was used for the calculation of total flavonoids (Asma et al., 2016). The chloroform extract showed the maximum total flavonoids in both leaves and fruits samples. However, the hexane leaves extract showed the minimum amount of total flavonoids, and the methanol fruits extract showed the minimum amount of total flavonoids. The remaining fruits and leaves extracts also showed the notable amount of total flavonoids. Our results are entirely aligned with other results which are published earlier (Aye et al., 2013; Fatma et al., 2014; Jiang et al., 2007). More recently, most of the polyphenols compounds are using as medicine to treat various diseases. The extracts from the leaves and fruits which contain the maximum amount of total flavonoids could be used as medicine to treat a host of ailments.

4. Conclusion

According to the literature, the selected plant species showed significant medicinal values which are used traditionally to treat different diseases for centuries. The Z. jujube is available in Oman and the local community traditionally used it to treat swollen joints, acne, shampoo, burns, acute constipation and diarrhea (Asma et al., 2016). About 79 bioactive ingredients present in the selected plant among them 54 bioactive compounds are isolated. All the bioactive ingredients were isolated from the fruits and leaves and showed several pharmacological activities. The prepared fresh, dry fruit, leaves, and their paste also showed significant activity against antifungal, antibacterial, antioxidant, antiulcer, anti-stress, anti-inflammatory and sedative effect. Therefore, the investigation is focused on the selected plant species for the discovery of the new medicines to treat different diseases. Our present review aims to identify the present status of the phytochemical and pharmacological activities of the locally grown Z. jujube. The current research would support further research initiatives in the future to further isolate new drugs that would benefit the pharmaceutical, agrochemical, and cosmetics industries.

Acknowledgement

The author is grateful to Derek M.N. O'Connell, Director, the Writing Center and Learning Enhancement Center, University of Nizwa for his assistant to edit the manuscript.

References

- Al-Reza, S.M., Bajpa, V.K., Kang, S.C., 2009. Antioxidant and antilisterial effect of essential oil and organic extracts from *Zizyphus jujube*. Food Chem. Toxicol. 47, 2374–2380.
- Al-Reza, S.M., Rahman, A., Lee, J.H., Kang, S.C., 2010. Potential roles of essential oil and organic extracts of *Zizyphus jujuba* in inhibiting food-borne pathogens. Food Chem. 119, 981–986.
- Asma, H.S., Moza, T.H.G., Hossain, M.A., 2016. Comparative evaluation of total phenols, flavonoids content, and antioxidant potential of leaf and fruit extracts of Omani *Ziziphus jujuba* L. Pac. Sci. Rev. A: Nat. Sci. Eng. 18 (1), 78–83.
- Asma, H.S., Moza, T.H.G., Hossain, M.A., 2017. Brine shrimp toxicity of various polarities leaves and fruits crude fractions of *Ziziphus jujuba* native to Oman and their antimicrobial potency. Sust. Chem. Pharm. 5, 122–125.
- Aye, M.M.S., Suchitra, T., Pongtip, S., Wandee, G., 2013. Total phenolics and total flavonoids contents and hypnotic effect in mice of Ziziphus mauritiana lam. seed extract. Evid-Based Compl. Alter. Med, 1–4.
- Bashir, A., Ibrar, K., Shumaila, B., Sadiq, A., Farrukh, H., 2011. Screening of Zizyphus jujuba for antibacterial, phytotoxic and haemagglutination activities. Afr. J. Biotech. 10 (13), 2514–2519.
- Elaloui, A., Laamouri, J., Fabre, C., Mathieu, G., Vilarem, B., Hasnaoui, G., 2015. Distribution of free amino acids, polyphenols and sugars of *Ziziphus jujuba* pulps harvested from plants grown in Tunisia. Nat. Prod. Res. 29 (1), 94–97.
- Elaloui, M., Ghazghazi, A., Ennajah, S., Manaa, W., Guezmir, N.B., Karray, B., Laamouri, A., 2017. Phenolic profile, antioxidant capacity of five Ziziphus spinachristi (L.) Willd provenances and their allelopathic effects on Trigonella foenumgraecum L. and Lens culinaris L. seeds. Nat. Prod. Res. 31 (10), 1209–1213.
- Erenmemisoglu, A., Keletimur, F., Koker, A.H., Utsuol, H., Tekol, Y., Ustdal, M., 1995. Hypoglycemic activity of Zizyphus jujube. J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 47, 72–74.
- Fatma, A., Shah, A.K., Aftab, A., 2014. Determination of total phenol, *in-vitro* antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity of seeds and fruits of *Zizyphus spinachristi* grown in Oman. Asian Pac. J. Trop. Biomed. 4 (2), S656–S660.
- Hoshyar, R., Jamal, S., Fereidouni, M., 2015. The cytotoxic activity of Ziziphus Jujube on cervical cancer cells: in vitro study. Cell. Mol. Biol. 61 (8), 128–130.
- Jeong, H.P., Hyun, J.L., Sang, B.K., Ju, Y.B., Yeon, H.S., 2004. Protection of NMDAinduced neuronal cell damage by methanol extract of *Zizyphi Spinosi* Semen in cultured rat cerebellar granule cells. J. Ethnopharmacol. 95, 39–45.
- Jiang, J.G., Huang, X.J., Chen, J., Lin, Q.S., 2007. Comparison of the sedative and hypnotic effects of flavonoids, saponins, and polysaccharides extracted from Semen Ziziphus jujube. Nat. Prod. Res. 21 (4), 310–320.
- Kamiloglu, O., Ercisli, S., Sengül, M., Toplu, C., Serçe, S., 2009. Total phenolics and antioxidant activity of jujube (*Zizyphus jujube* Mill.) genotypes selected from Turkey. Afri. J. Biotechno. 8, 303–307.
- Khare, C.P., 1995. Zizyphus jujuba. Encyclopedia of Indian Medicinal Plants Springer, New York, pp. 493–498.
- Kim, K.S., 2002. Effects of the Zizyphus jujuba seed extract on the lipid components in hyperlipidemic rats. J. Food Sci. Nutr. 7, 72–77.
- Kim, H.S., 2009. Effects of the Zizyphus jujuba seed extract on the lipid components in hyperlipidemic rats. J. Food Sci. Nutr. 7, 72–77.
- Kirtikar, K.R., Basu, B.D., 1994. Indian Medicinal Plants. Bishen Sigh Mahendrapal Singh, Dehradun.
- Li, J., Liu, Y., Fan, L., Ai, L., Shan, L., 2011. Antioxidant activities of polysaccharides from the fruiting bodies of *Zizyphus Jujuba* cv. Jinsixiaozao Carbohydr. Polym. 84, 390–394.
- Peng, Z.C., Zhu, Z., 2001. Research advances in chemical constituents and pharmacological effects of semen Ziziphi Spinosae. Lishizen Med. Matter Med. Res. 12, 86–87.
- Reyhane, H., Zabihollah, M., Nihad, T., Aliyeh, A., 2015. Antitumor activity of aqueous extract of *Ziziphus jujube* fruit in breast cancer: An *in vitro* and *in vivo* study. Asian Pac. J. Reprod. 4 (2), 116–122.
- Sajida, P., Nadeem, I.B., Naureen, S., Shaista, Q., Ejaz, A., Surriya, N., Abida, L., Alamgeer, Y., Khalid, H., 2017. Chemical and pharmacological comparison of modern and traditional dosage forms of *Joshanda*. Nat. Prod. Res. 11, 1–4.
- Souleles, C., Shammas, G., 1998. Flavonoids from the leaves of Zizyphus jujube. Fitoter 59, 154–156.
- Tomoda, N., Shimuju, M., Gonda, R., 1985. Pectic substances II. The location of Oacetyl groups and the Smith degradation of *Ziziphus* pectin. A. Chem. Pharma. Bull. 33 (9), 4017–4020.
- Vandita, S., Guizani, N., Musthafa, M.E., Rahman, M.S., Subash, S., 2012. In vitro antioxidant activities of *Ziziphus spina-christi* fruits (red date) grown in Oman. Biotecnol. 11 (4), 209–216.
- Wu, Y., Chen, M., Du, M., Yue, C.H., Li, Y.Y., Zhu, M., Liu, J.G., Hu, Y.L., 2014. Chemical constituents from the fruit of *Ziziphus jujuba* Mill. Var. spinosa. Biochem. Syst. Ecol. 57, 6–10.
- Ziping, X., Weihua, F., Jiakang, C., Dongdong, C., Weibo, J., 2009. J. Food Biochem. 33, 613–629.